# RECEIVED

04-17-2012

# STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

#### **DISTRICT II**

Case No. 2011-AP-2917

JAMES R. SCHOOLCRAFT and CRAIG VERTZ,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

MUKWONAGO AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Involuntary Plaintiff,

v.

STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION, TONY EVERS, and PAUL A. SHERMAN,

Defendants-Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM A NOVEMBER 2, 2011, ORDER FOR JUDGMENT BY THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, HON. DONALD J. HASSIN, JR., PRESIDING CASE NUMBER 2010-CV-4804

#### **BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS**

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

CLAYTON P. KAWSKI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1066228

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the circuit court erred when it granted summary judgment to plaintiffs-respondents James R. Schoolcraft and Craig Vertz (collectively, "Plaintiffs") on their as applied challenge to Wis. Stat. § 118.134 under procedural due process?

Answer by the circuit court: The circuit court granted summary judgment in favor of Plaintiffs on their as-applied challenge to Wis. Stat. § 118.134 under procedural due process.

2. Whether Plaintiffs can pursue their claims in this declaratory judgment action when chapter 227 of the Wisconsin Statutes provides the exclusive method for judicial review of DPI's October 8, 2010, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order?

Answer by the circuit court: The circuit permitted Plaintiffs to pursue their claims.

3. Whether the circuit court erred when it held that Plaintiffs possess taxpayer standing to assert their claims?

Answer by the circuit court: On December 9, 2010, the circuit court denied the defendants-appellants' State of Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction, Tony Evers, and Paul A. Sherman's (collectively, "DPI's") motion to dismiss Plaintiffs' complaint on the grounds that Plaintiffs lack taxpayer standing. The circuit court reiterated its holding as to taxpayer standing in a memorandum decision and order on summary judgment on September 29, 2011.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

DPI believes that oral argument is unnecessary because the parties' briefs will fully present and meet the

issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on each side.

DPI believes that publication of this Court's opinion is appropriate. This case will interpret Wis. Stat. § 118.134, which has not been interpreted in a published decision.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of DPI's application of a relatively new law, Wis. Stat. § 118.134, to involuntary plaintiff Mukwonago Area School District (the "District"). The District did not participate in the circuit court below and is not participating on appeal.

Wisconsin Stat. § 118.134 permits a school district resident to object to a school district's use of a race-based nickname, logo, mascot, or team name by filing a complaint with the State Superintendent of Public Instruction. On July 21, 2010, District resident Rain Koepke filed such a complaint. (R. 27 at p. 15.)

After an August 27, 2010, Wis. Stat. chapter 227 contested case hearing conducted by defendant Paul. A. Sherman ("Sherman"), a school administration consultant with DPI, DPI ordered the District to cease its use of the "Indians" nickname and related logos. (R. 10 at pp. 11-17; A-App. 11-17.) Sherman, acting under authority granted to him by State Superintendent of Public Instruction, defendant Tony Evers, entered an October 8, 2010, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order (the "Order" or "DPI's Order"). (*Id.*)

In DPI's Order, Sherman concluded that: (1) the Mukwonago Indians nickname and the logo depicting the head of a male person wearing a feather headdress are unambiguously race-based pursuant to Wis. Admin. Code § PI 45.04(3); (2) the District did not have the permission of a federally recognized American Indian tribe to use the nickname and logo; and (3) the District's use of the

nickname and logo promotes discrimination, pupil harassment, and stereotyping in violation of Wis. Stat. § 118.134. (R. 10 at p. 16.)

In an effort to effectively appeal DPI's Order, Plaintiffs filed this lawsuit challenging both the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 118.134 and DPI's application of that law to the District. Plaintiffs' claims are based upon the procedural due process and equal protection guarantees of the federal constitution.

The District did not file a petition for judicial review of the Order under chapter 227.

This appeal centers on the only claim upon which Plaintiffs prevailed in circuit court, namely, their as applied challenge to Wis. Stat. § 118.134 under procedural due process. The circuit court erroneously granted summary judgment to Plaintiffs on this claim when it concluded that there was an impermissible risk of bias on the part of Sherman, who served as administrative law judge at the August 27, 2010, contested case hearing. Specifically, the circuit court held that Sherman was not a fair and non-biased decision maker and that the District—not Plaintiffs—was denied procedural due process.

The circuit court erred when it granted summary judgment to Plaintiffs. The circuit court disregarded the presumption of honesty, integrity, and impartiality that attaches to administrative law judges. The circuit court did not even address the presumption in authoring its decision on summary judgment. Instead, it relied upon evidence in the summary judgment record that was insufficient to overcome the presumption of impartiality, namely, portions of Sherman's deposition testimony that was taken months after he conducted the contested case hearing and issued the Order.

Furthermore, the circuit court erred when it let this case go forward at all. Chapter 227 of the Wisconsin Statutes provides the exclusive method to seek judicial

review of an administrative agency decision. Plaintiffs circumvented the procedures of chapter 227 by filing this declaratory judgment action in circuit court. The case should have been dismissed on that basis alone, but the circuit court denied DPI's motion to dismiss.

Finally, Plaintiffs lack taxpayer standing to pursue their claims, yet the circuit court ruled otherwise. Plaintiffs did not plead sufficient facts to establish, nor did they prove through evidence on summary judgment, that they would be directly and personally harmed financially by the Order.

For all of these reasons, this Court should reverse the circuit court.

#### I. PROCEDURAL POSTURE.

This case comes to the Court on appeal from the circuit court's November 2, 2011, Order for Judgment. (R. 43 at pp. 3-4; A-App. 62-63.) That order incorporated by reference a September 29, 2011, memorandum decision and order that the circuit court entered granting in part and denying in part Plaintiffs' summary judgment motion. (*See* R. 37; A-App. 40.)

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint and a motion for a preliminary injunction and/or temporary restraining order on November 10, 2010. (R. 2; R. 4.) Plaintiffs' initial Complaint asserted federal constitutional claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against DPI, Tony Evers, and Paul A. Sherman. (R. 2 at pp. 7-9.)

DPI filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint and a supporting brief on November 17, 2010, and a brief opposing Plaintiffs' motion for a preliminary injunction and/or temporary restraining order on November 23, 2010. (R. 6; R. 11; R. 12.)

Also on November 23, 2010, Plaintiffs filed a brief in support of their motion for an injunction and/or

temporary restraining order, and a First Amended Complaint. (R. 11; R. 10, A-App. 1.) Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint is the operative complaint at issue.

On December 9, 2010, the circuit court held a hearing to address Plaintiffs' motion for a temporary restraining order and DPI's motion to dismiss. (R. 50; A-App. 64.) During the hearing, the circuit court orally denied Plaintiffs' motion for a temporary restraining order. (R. 50 at pp. 38-39; A-App. 101-102.) The circuit court also orally denied DPI's motion to dismiss Plaintiffs' Complaint and First Amended Complaint and held that Plaintiffs possess taxpayer standing to assert their claims. (R. 50 at pp. 9-10, 14; A-App. 72-73, 77.) The circuit court entered a written order denying the motions on December 20, 2010. (R. 15; A-App. 18.)

DPI filed an answer to Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint on December 15, 2010. (R. 14.)

On May 2, 2011, the circuit court held a telephonic scheduling conference and set a briefing schedule for Plaintiffs to file a motion for summary judgment. (R. 22.)

Plaintiffs filed their motion for summary judgment and supporting materials on June 1, 2011. (R. 23, 24, 25, 26.) DPI filed a brief and other materials in opposition. (R. 27, 28.) Plaintiffs filed a reply brief in support of their motion for summary judgment. (R. 39.)

After briefing on summary judgment was completed, the circuit court ordered the parties to prepare a transcript of the August 27, 2010, contested case hearing. (R. 33.) DPI filed a transcript of the hearing with the circuit court on August 15, 2011. (R. 35)

On September 29, 2011, the circuit court entered a memorandum decision and order that granted Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment in part and denied it in part. (R. 37; A-App. 40.) Plaintiffs prevailed only on their as applied challenge to Wis. Stat. § 118.134 under

procedural due process. *Id.* at p. 21) A formal order for judgment was to follow.

The circuit court's November 2, 2011, Order for Judgment granted summary judgment to Plaintiffs on their as applied challenge to Wis. Stat. § 118.134. (R. 43 at p. 4; A-App. 63.) The circuit court denied Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment as to their as-applied and facial challenges to Wis. Stat. § 118.134 under the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and as to Plaintiffs' facial challenge to Wis. Stat. § 118.134 under procedural due process. (*Id.*) The circuit court declared that Wis. Stat. § 118.134 is "facially constitutional as to Plaintiffs' procedural due process and equal protection claims." (*Id.*)

DPI appeals. (R. 48.)

#### II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND.

On June 3, 2010, State Superintendent of Public Instruction Tony Evers designated Sherman to administer and conduct proceedings for complaints filed under Wis. Stat. § 118.134. (R. 27 at p. 5.)

On July 21, 2010, District resident Rain Koepke filed a complaint with DPI pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 118.134 to the challenge the District's use of the "Indians" nickname and related logos. (R. 27 at p. 15.)

On July 23, 2010, in accordance with Wis. Stat. § 118.134 Sherman requested that the District submit to DPI examples of the District's use of the Indians nickname, mascot, logos, and team name. (R. 27 at pp. 15-16.) The District complied with this request on August 9, 2010, and submitted examples to Sherman. (*Id.* at pp. 20-29.)

On August 11, 2010, based upon the District's submissions on July 23, Sherman determined that the District's use of the Indians nickname was unambiguously

race-based under Wis. Stat. § 118.134(1). (R. 27 at p. 31.) He also concluded that the District did not have approval to use the nickname from a federally recognized American Indian Tribe pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 118.134(1m)(a). (*Id.* at pp. 31-32.) Accordingly, Sherman ordered a contested case hearing pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 118.134(1)(b). (*Id.* at p. 32.)

On August 27, 2010, DPI held a contested case hearing to determine whether the District's use of the "Indians" nickname and a logo depicting the head of a male person wearing a feather headdress promotes discrimination, pupil harassment, and stereotyping in violation of Wis. Stat. § 118.134. (R. 35.) The District and complainant Koepke appeared by representatives at the hearing and presented evidence. (*Id.*)

Plaintiffs did not seek to participate in the contested case before DPI, which (if they could demonstrate a "substantial interest") they might have done pursuant to the authority granted by Wis. Stat. § 227.44(2m): "Any person whose substantial interest may be affected by the decision following the hearing shall, upon the person's request, be admitted as a party." Likewise, the District did not assert before DPI any of the federal constitutional claims that Plaintiffs subsequently pursued in circuit court.

During the August 27, 2010, hearing, Sherman heard testimony from numerous witnesses, including graduates of Mukwonago High School and administrators from the District. The Department of Public Instruction called no witnesses at the hearing and presented no

evidence.<sup>1</sup> A transcript of the hearing is part of the record on appeal. (R. 35.)

On October 8, 2010, DPI issued the Order, which determined that the District's use of the "Indians" nickname and logo promotes discrimination, pupil harassment, and stereotyping in violation of Wis. Stat. § 118.134. (R. 10 at p. 16; A-App. 16.) DPI ordered that by October 8, 2011, the District "shall terminate its use of the 'Indians' nickname and the logo depicting the head of a male person wearing a feather headdress." (*Id.* at p. 17.)

On October 8, 2010, DPI's Order was served upon counsel for the District and upon Barbara E. Munson, representing complainant Koepke, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 227.48. (R. 10 at p. 17; R. 24 at p. 3.) The District had 30 days—until November 8, 2010—to file a petition for judicial review. Wis. Stat. § 227.53(1)(a)2.

On October 25, 2010, the District school board passed a motion during its regular meeting that it would not appeal DPI's Order. Mukwonago Area School District, October 25, 2010, Minutes, at p. 2 available at http://www.masd.k12.wi.us/cms\_files/resources/2010-sb-oct-minutes.pdf (last visited April 12, 2012). The District did not file a Chapter 227 petition for judicial review.

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint in circuit court on November 10, 2010, two days after the 30 day period to file a petition for judicial review had passed. (R. 2.)

Relevant to the first issue on appeal, Sherman was deposed by Plaintiffs' counsel on January 24, 2011. (R. 23 at pp. 43-73; A-App. 54-61.) The circuit court relied heavily upon Sherman's deposition testimony in concluding that he was not an impartial decision maker

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The circuit court's recitation of the facts in its September 29, 2011, memorandum decision and order erroneously states that Sherman heard testimony from "persons called by the Department [of Public Instruction] who gave varying and contradictory opinions[.]" (R. 37 at p. 4; A-App. 43.)

and that his bias resulted in the District being denied procedural due process. (See R. 37 at pp. 16-18; A-App. 55-57.)

Sherman testified regarding his role in the August 27, 2010, contested case hearing, the issuance of DPI's Order, the administrative rules promulgated by DPI in Wis. Admin. Code ch. PI 45 that interpret Wis. Stat. § 118.134, and DPI's public position regarding Native American teamnames. In particular, a few portions of Sherman's deposition testimony were significant to the circuit court's conclusion that Sherman exhibited an impermissibly high risk of bias. (R. 37 at pp. 16-18; A-App. 55-57.)

First, Sherman testified regarding his and DPI's positions on the eradication of the use of Native American teamnames by school districts. In its September 29, 2011, memorandum decision and order on summary judgment, the circuit court referenced, in part, the following testimony from Sherman's deposition:

- Q. [Plaintiffs' counsel]: Did you come into the hearing with a fair mind-set?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. You hadn't come out prior to 2009 or any point in time in your life indicating whether you were either pro Indian mascots versus anti Indian mascots?
- A. No.
- Q. You've never indicated one way or another to anyone prior to this hearing your position as to whether it's good or bad?
- A. To any person?
- Q. To any person publicly, how does that sound?
- A. Publicly, no.

- Q. Okay. You know Dr. Evers or the DPI has?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. And prior to this hearing, you know the DPI has come out and said we want you all to get rid of the race-based nicknames?
- A. Yes.
- Q. You knew that going in?
- A. Yes.
- O. True?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And the DPI is your employer?
- A. Yes.

(R. 23 at p. 62 (deposition transcript at p. 75, l. 5 to p. 76, l. 3); A-App. 38); (R. 37 at p. 16 n. 18.; A-App. 23.)

Second, Sherman testified regarding how the District was to determine what evidence it could have presented to prevail at the August 27, 2010, contested case hearing. The circuit court referenced, in part, the following deposition testimony:

- Q. [Plaintiffs' counsel]:... Let me next ask, how did Mukwonago know what evidence you wanted to hear? In other words, how is Mukwonago School District supposed to know that you wanted to hear from the teachers as to how they educate in respect to Native Americans?
- A. I don't know how they are supposed to know that.

. . . .

Q. Because you're the sole arbiter, judge, jury, whatever you want to call it. You're everything. You're the one sole person.

How is Mukwonago supposed to know what you're looking for?

A. I don't know how they're supposed to know that.

. . . .

- Q. Okay. And I apologize for doing this, but I want to make sure we have a clear record. It's your testimony that outside of education, you don't know under any other scenario how Mukwonago could have won this hearing, true?
- A. I don't like that question.
- .... [objection omitted]
- Q. You want me to repeat it or try to rephrase it?
- A. Can I just put it this way?
- Q. Sure.
- A. I believe that the district could demonstrate to my satisfaction that their logo and nickname and the use thereof did not promote stereotyping, harassment, or discrimination, all right. Beyond that, all I can say is that the evidence that the Mukwonago School District brought forward did not do that.
- Q. But how could they have proven it? That's what I need to know. That's where I'm struggling.
- . . . . [objection omitted]
- Q. Outside of the educational part that you talked about.
- A. I don't know.

(R. 23 at p. 58 (deposition transcript at p. 58, ll. 9-22; p. 59, l. 16 – p. 60, l. 20); A-App. 34); (R. 37 at pp. 17-18; A-App. 56-57.)

Additional portions of Sherman's deposition testimony will be addressed below.

#### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

<u>Issue 1 (summary judgment)</u>: When reviewing the grant of summary judgment, an appellate court applies the same methodology as the circuit court and considers the issues *de novo*. *See Green Spring Farms v. Kersten*, 136 Wis. 2d 304, 315, 401 N.W.2d 816 (1987).

Issue 2 (chapter 227): Statutory interpretation is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. *German v. DOT*, 2000 WI 62, ¶ 7, 235 Wis. 2d 576, 612 N.W.2d 50 (citation omitted).

<u>Issue 3 (taxpayer standing)</u>: The determination of whether a party possesses standing involves a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*. *See Zellner v. Cedarburg Sch. Dist.*, 2007 WI 53, ¶ 14, 300 Wis. 2d 290, 731 N.W.2d 240 (citation omitted).

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO PLAINTIFFS ON THEIR AS APPLIED CHALLENGE TO WIS. STAT. § 118.134 UNDER PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS.

The circuit court erred when it granted summary judgment to Plaintiffs on their as applied challenge to Wis. Stat. § 118.134 under procedural due process. The circuit court held that defendant Paul A. Sherman was not a fair and non-biased decision maker and that this fact resulted in the District, not Plaintiffs, being denied

procedural due process. (R. 37 at p. 18; A-App 57.) Strangely, DPI never applied Wis. Stat. § 118.134 to *Plaintiffs*, yet the circuit court granted summary judgment to Plaintiffs. This constituted reversible error.

The circuit court relied primarily upon Sherman's sworn deposition testimony in reaching its conclusion on summary judgment. (See R. 37 at pp. 16-18; A-App. 55-57.) In doing so, the circuit court failed to weigh Sherman's testimony in light of the legal presumption that administrative decision makers act with honesty and integrity and are impartial and fair. The circuit court did not even acknowledge this presumption in its written decision on summary judgment, let alone analyze the applicability of the presumption and conclude that Plaintiffs had satisfied their heavy burden of overcoming it. The circuit court disregarded applicable law.

The circuit court erred and should be reversed. The evidence demonstrates that Sherman was a fair and impartial decision maker and that his conduct of the August 27, 2010, contested case hearing and issuance of DPI's Order comported with procedural due process.

### A. Legal Standards.

1. Procedural Due Process.

Courts undertake a two-part inquiry to determine whether a procedural due process claim exists:

When a procedural due process violation is claimed, the first question is whether the plaintiff has been deprived of a constitutionally protected interest in life, liberty or property. If such a deprivation has occurred, we reach the second level of analysis: what process was provided and whether it was constitutionally adequate.

Robinson v. McCaughtry, 177 Wis. 2d 293, 300, 501 N.W.2d 896 (Ct. App. 1993) (citation omitted).

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