STATE OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED 05-17-2012

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

CASE NO. 2011-AP-2917

JAMÉS R. SCHOOLCRAFT and CRAIG VERTZ

Case No. 10-CV-4804 Case Code: 30704

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

THE MUKWONAGO AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT

Involuntary Plaintiff,

v.

STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION, TONY EVERS and PAUL A. SHERMAN

Defendants-Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM A NOVEMBER 2, 2011, ORDER FOR JUDGMENT BY THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, HON. DONALD J. HASSIN, JR., PRESIDING CASE NO. 2010-CV-4804

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT WIS. STAT. § 118.134 WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED IN THIS CASE IN VIOLATION OF PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS PROTECTIONS GUARANTEED BY THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Wisconsin Statute Section 118.134 was unconstitutionally applied to Schoolcraft and Vertz because (1) they did not receive notice of any hearing, (2) they did not have an opportunity to present evidence and (3) they were not afforded an impartial decision-maker as required for

procedural due process.¹ The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that no state may "deprive any person of life, liberty or property without due process of law." U.S. Const. Amend. XIV, § 1. Procedural due process requires that individuals who may be deprived of property, such as Schoolcraft and Vertz, are entitled to a fair hearing, which requires (1) the right to receive notice, (2) the right to present evidence and (3) the right to be heard before an impartial decision-maker. *Aurora v. Labor & Indus. Review Comm'n*, 2010 WI App 173, ¶ 29, 330 Wis. 2d 804, 794 N.W.2d 520 (citing *Theodore Fleisner, Inc. v. DILHR*, 65 Wis. 2d 317, 326, 222 N.W.2d 600 (1974)).

A. Impartial Decision Maker

The circuit court correctly found that Sherman was not a "fair and impartial decision-maker," which is a necessary component of procedural due process. *Bunker v. Labor and Industry Review Com'n*, 2002 WI App 216, ¶ 19, 257 Wis. 2d 255, 650 N.W.2d 864. Moreover, the circuit court correctly acknowledged the presumption that a decision-maker is presumed to be fair and impartial, and that the record revealed that presumption had

¹ DPI argues, for the first time on appeal, that DPI never applied Wis. Stat. § 118.134 to *Plaintiffs-Respondents*, seeking to distinguish between DPI's order compelling the District to take action and not Schoolcraft and Vertz, such that, under DPI's view, Schoolcraft and Vertz cannot sustain a procedural due process claim. This case, like all other taxpayer standing cases, involve monetary loss ultimately to be borne on the part of the taxpayer(s) bringing suit, which necessarily results in the deprivation of property requiring adherence to due process protections. This argument raised within the procedural due process section of Defendants-Appellants' brief is largely a regurgitation of the arguments raised with regard to the standing section of Defendants-Appellants' brief and are similarly unavailing.

been rebutted and that Sherman "showed an impermissible risk of bias." (R. 37; R-App. 209.)

"[D]ue process and fair play can be violated 'when there is bias or unfairness in fact [, or when]...the risk of bias is impermissibly high." *Marris v. City of Cedarburg*, 176 Wis. 2d 14, 25, 498 N.W.2d 842 (1993)(quoting *Guthrie v. Wisconsin Employment Relations Commn*, 111 Wis. 2d 447, 454, 331 N.W.2d 331 (1983)).

In *Marris*, the issue before the Wisconsin Supreme Court relevant to this appeal was whether the chairperson of the Board of Review for the City of Cedarburg prejudged the matter or created an impermissibly high risk of bias such that it deprived the resident a fair hearing. *Id.* at 19.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court observed that "[s]ince biases may distort judgment, impartial decision-makers are needed to ensure both sound fact-finding and rational decision-making as well as to ensure public confidence in the decision-making process." *Id.* at 25-26.

The record in *Marris* included a tape recording of a closed-door meeting by the zoning board, which contained three statements that the resident found objectionable. *Id.* at 27 - 28. The resident argued that, in totality, the comments suggested that the chairperson of the Board had prejudged her case.

With regard to the case at bar, the circuit court's analysis of *Marris* combined with the factual record supports the circuit court's conclusion that Sherman "showed an impermissible risk of bias," such that Sherman was not an impartial decision-marker as required by the procedural due process protections afforded by the Fourteenth Amendment.

Specifically, the circuit court found that (1) "Sherman knew that the DPI had publicly and actively supported the total eradication of Indian nicknames"; (2) Sherman did not know and could not articulate "how the District was supposed to determine what evidence could lead to a positive result" in favor of the District; and (3) Sherman could not answer questions "about the type of evidence the District should have submitted to prevail." (R. at 37; R-App. 209-210.) Moreover, even Sherman himself acknowledged that he understood that outside observers could see the appearance of impropriety with regard to having him, a DPI employee appointed by the chief executive of DPI, an organization that had taken a public position favoring the elimination of nicknames like Mukwonago's, sit as the decision maker for the statutorily-prescribed hearing. (R. at 23; R-App. 75.)

Like in *Marris*, the totality of the circumstances with regard to the relationship between Sherman and the DPI, the DPI's public stance on the issue and the DPI's long-standing relationship with Munson, the non-

attorney, non-resident advocate for the complainant, create the impermissibly high risk of bias.

Sherman's awareness of the DPI's active and public position with regard to the total elimination of Indian nicknames supports a finding that Sherman "showed an impermissible risk of bias." In addition to knowing that his employer, the DPI, publicly and actively supported the total eradication of Indian nicknames, he had been appointed to oversee the hearing by the most senior person within the DPI. (R. at 23; R. App. 66.)

In addition to his knowledge before the hearing of the DPI's position with regard to the nickname issue, Sherman also had met and interacted with Munson, who was openly adverse to Mukwonago, on a number of occasions prior to the August 23, 2010 hearing, including an initial meeting where Sherman was present, in his official capacity on behalf of the DPI, when the state senate was hearing testimony from Munson in relation to a bill that was a predecessor to the current Wis. Stat. § 118.134. (R. at 23; R-App. 39; 63.) His familiarity with Munson and Munson's past consultant relationship with the DPI is yet another basis for finding that Sherman "showed an impermissible risk of bias."

Moreover, after the August 27, 2010 hearing and before Sherman authored his opinion, Munson was corresponding with one of Sherman's co-workers at the DPI in preparation for a presentation Munson was putting

on with Sherman's co-worker, in San Diego,² on the recent change to Wisconsin law and the efforts taken by Munson and the DPI, among others, to have Wis. Stat. § 118.134 enacted. (R. at 34; R-App. 106-112.) Munson and Sherman's co-worker were at the annual meeting when the October 8, 2010 decision was released; how foolish would DPI and Munson have looked touting their accomplishments with regard to the enactment of the new law during the presentation only to have one of DPI's own employees render a decision in a case involving Mukwonago that would be adverse to Munson and DPI's public positions on the issue?

Not surprisingly, Sherman acknowledged the potential appearance of impropriety that him presiding over the hearing may have caused. (R. at 23; R-App. 79.)

Further, as a separate basis for concluding that Sherman "showed an impermissible risk of bias," the circuit court aptly noted that Sherman avoided questions and could not otherwise articulate an answer when asked what evidence Mukwonago would have needed to show to meet its burden of proof when answering "I don't know" to several questions that were posed on that subject. (R. at 37; R-App. 209-210.) Specifically, Sherman even admitted that there was no way for Mukwonago to know what evidence or testimony Sherman wanted to hear. (R. at 23; R-App. 75.)

² It is not known by the Plaintiffs-Respondents who paid for Munson's travel expenses for the San Diego conference, but it is known that DPI had paid for lodging costs for Munson on a previous occasion. (R. at 34; R-App. 108.)

In sum, the circuit court applied the proper standard of law in determining whether Sherman exhibited an impermissible risk of bias that resulted in a procedural due process violation. The circuit court correctly concluded from the record and the undisputed testimony from the person who was supposed to be the impartial decision-maker that (1) Sherman knew his employer's position on the issue before the hearing (to get rid of all race-based nicknames), (2) Sherman was appointed to his position as decision maker by his employer's chief executive, (3) Sherman knew, and had a pre-existing relationship with, the complainant's non-attorney, nonresident advocate, and (4) even with the benefit of hindsight, retrospect and legal representation, Sherman could not articulate how Mukwonago could have met its burden of proof in order for Mukwonago to prevail at the hearing. For all these reasons, this Court should affirm the decision of the circuit court and hold that Schoolcraft and Vertz were denied their procedural due process rights because Sherman exhibited an impressible risk of bias.

B. Notice and Opportunity to be Heard and Present Evidence

Schoolcraft and Vertz, as taxpayers within the District responsible for paying for any nickname or logo change, had, and continue to have, a property interest and will sustain a pecuniary loss to the extent the District is required to comply with DPI's order compelling the change in the high

school nickname and logo. As a result, they were entitled to notice of any hearing that may adversely affect their property taxes and an opportunity to be heard and present evidence to ensure protection of their procedural due process rights afforded by the Fourteenth Amendment.

It is undisputed that Schoolcraft and Vertz were not notified of the August 27, 2010 hearing. (R. at 23; R-App. 68.) It goes without saying that Schoolcraft and Vertz were not afforded an opportunity to be heard and present evidence. (R. at 23; R-App. 69.)

In fact, despite hearing from Koepke through his non-attorney representative, Sherman never intended to afford interested persons, including Mukwonago school district residents, the opportunity to present evidence or testify at the August 27, 2010 hearing. (Id.)

Schoolcraft and Vertz have the same Constitutional right as Koepke to receive notice, appear, speak and present evidence or argument at a fair hearing. Because Schoolcraft and Vertz were not given notice or an opportunity to be heard, they were wholly and arbitrarily denied due process of law.

II. CHAPTER 227 DOES NOT BAR THIS 42 U.S.C. § 1983 CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGE OF STATE LAW OR STATE ACTION.

Schoolcraft and Vertz's declaratory judgment complaint seeking a declaration that Wis. Stat. § 118.134 violates 42 U.S.C. § 1983 should not

be barred by a strict application of Chapter 227 of the Wisconsin Statutes. When an administrative agency has no authority to declare unconstitutional the very statute that confers the agency with the authority to make the initial administrative decision, the exclusive method of review, which requires the exhaustion of administrative remedies before judicial review of a state agency can be had, (collectively "exclusive remedy"), is inapplicable because the administrative agency cannot afford the party adequate relief. Nodell Inv. Corp. v. Glendale, 78 Wis. 2d 416, 425-426, 254 N.W.2d 310 (1952)(quoting Kmiec v. Town of Spider Lake, 60 Wis. 2d 640, 645, 211 N.W.2d 471 (1973)). Chapter 227 cannot provide the exclusive remedy before judicial review can be had in this case because the DPI has no authority to declare the statute unconstitutional, such that the statutory remedy is not plain, speedy or adequate, as required for Chapter 227's review process to apply.

A 42 U.S.C. § 1983 civil rights challenge is not contemplated by Chapter 227 of the Wisconsin Statutes and would not be appropriately addressed through such an administrative review. To be clear, this action is not an appeal of the October 8, 2010 order, and this action does not assert that the DPI, through Sherman, did not have statutory authority to preside over the hearing. Even if the Court would assume that Schoolcraft and Vertz have a theoretical ability to appeal the DPI order under Chapter 227,

Schoolcraft and Vertz are also nonetheless permitted to bring this action in order to challenge the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 118.134 and its application under federal law, separate from the merits of the DPI order issued in this case; federal supremacy dictates as much. Schoolcraft and Vertz are not contesting that Sherman or the DPI exercised discretion in violation of the statute as contemplated by Wis. Stat. § 227.55(8); rather, Schoolcraft and Vertz are challenging the constitutionality of the statute itself, and the constitutionality of the manner in which the hearing was held. In that instance, Chapter 227 does not prevent Schoolcraft and Vertz from asserting their constitutional rights.

At the outset, it should be noted that the Wisconsin Supreme Court "has recognized that it need not apply the exhaustion doctrine in a rigid, unbending way." *County of Sauk v. Trager*, 118 Wis. 2d 204, 214, 346 N.W.2d 756 (1984). "In exercising its discretion in whether to apply the exhaustion doctrine, the court should balance the litigant's need for judicial review, the agency's interest in precluding the litigant from defending the action and the public's interest in the sound administration of justice." *Id.* Courts should also be reluctant to apply the exhaustion doctrine when the question raised is one of law and when the merits of the case appear strong. *See id.* at 216.

DPI argues that Schoolcraft and Vertz were required to commence an action pursuant to Chapter 227 of Wisconsin Statutes to review the DPI order in this matter rather than commence this action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 to challenge the constitutionality of a state law. In support of its argument, DPI largely relies on the Supreme Court's ruling in *State ex rel.* the First National Bank of Wisconsin Rapids v. M&I Peoples Bank of Coloma, 82 Wis. 2d 529, 263 N.W.2d 196 (1978). DPI's suggestion that the procedures in Chapter 227 provide the only remedy to Schoolcraft and Vertz fails for many of the exceptions noted within the court's decision.

Generally, courts have recognized that Chapter 227 provides the mechanism for judicial review of state agency determinations. *See* Wis. Stat. § 227.52. However, the foregoing statutory provisions do not provide for the exclusive remedy for agency determinations in all circumstances. *First National Bank*, 82 Wis. 2d at 545. Specifically, the Supreme Court has recognized that reviews pursuant to Chapter 227 are not required when such a review could not provide the requested remedy. *Id.* Specifically, the Supreme Court has noted that:

"[A] challenge to the constitutional validity of a zoning ordinance presents a question of law. Such a challenge may properly be made by commencing an action for declaratory judgment and the exhaustion of remedies is not applicable..." The reason for this exception is that an appeal to the administrative agency would not have afforded the party adequate relief since the administrative agency has no right to repeal or declare unconstitutional zoning ordinances enacted by the

legislative body from which the board derives its existence.

Nodell Inv. Corp. v. Glendale, 78 Wis. 2d 416, 425-426, 254 N.W.2d 310 (1952)(quoting Kmiec v. Town of Spider Lake, 60 Wis. 2d 640, 645, 211 N.W.2d 471 (1973)).

The foregoing situation manifests itself in the case on appeal. DPI contends that Schoolcraft and Vertz should have sought review of the DPI's decision pursuant to Chapter 227, although, through that review, a remand to the DPI may have been ordered by the circuit court. However, as the court in *Nodell*, *Kmiec*, and *First National Bank* all noted, when the agency to whom the matter would be remanded has no authority to declare unconstitutional the very statute under which it is conferred with the authority to make the initial administrative decision, the remedy outlined in Chapter 227 is not exclusive because the administrative agency cannot afford the party adequate relief.

Further, Chapter 227 should not bar this case based on the fact that statutory notice of the adverse decision was not provided to Schoolcraft or Vertz or to the taxpayers within the District. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has expressly acknowledged that the remedies outlined in Chapter 227 should not be required in cases where parties do not receive statutory notice and the aggrieved party did not receive actual notice until after the

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